

JANUARY 2025

THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF STATE RESTRICTIONS ON INTERCHANGE FEES

AUTHOR: ZACHARY MILNE

ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Zachary Milne is CSI Arizona's Senior Economist and Research Analyst. Prior to joining CSI, Zachary served as an economist and budget analyst for the Arizona Governor's Office of Strategic Planning & Budgeting. In this capacity he developed the state's revenue forecasts and advised a team of budget analysts on the creation of K-12 and Medicaid caseload figures for the State's annual budget. He also advised the Executive policy and leadership teams on fiscal policy and regularly presented detailed analyses on each of the dozens of tax bills introduced in the Arizona Legislature each year. Originally from upstate New York, Zach's then-active-duty service with the United States Air Force brought him to Arizona, where he has remained. Zachary is currently also a member of the Arizona Air National Guard.

ABOUT COMMON SENSE INSTITUTE

Common Sense Institute is a non-partisan research organization dedicated to the protection and promotion of Arizona's economy. CSI is at the forefront of important discussions concerning the future of free enterprise and aims to have an impact on the issues that matter most to Arizonans. CSI's mission is to examine the fiscal impacts of policies, initiatives, and proposed laws so that Arizonans are educated and informed on issues impacting their lives. CSI employs rigorous research techniques and dynamic modelling to evaluate the potential impact of these measures on the Arizona economy and individual opportunity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| About the Author | 1 |
|---|------|
| About Common Sense Institute | 1 |
| Introduction | 3 |
| Key Findings | 4 |
| Key Terms and Definitions | 5 |
| The Card Payment Landscape | 6 |
| What are Interchange Fees? | 6 |
| How Card Payments Work | 7 |
| Who Pays What? | 8 |
| The Economics of Card Payments | 10 |
| Rising Merchant Costs | .10 |
| Benefits to Merchants and Consumers | 11 |
| The Regulatory Environment and Fallout from the Durbin Amendment | .13 |
| The Interchange Fee Prohibition Act | . 13 |
| The Economic Impacts of Interchange Fee Restrictions: A Colorado Case Study | 16 |
| Simulation Inputs | .16 |
| Second Order Impact Estimates | . 18 |
| Simulation Results | . 18 |
| Final Notes | .19 |
| Bottom Line | 20 |

INTRODUCTION

In a world where the use of cash is becoming increasingly scarce, interchange fees serve a vital role by funding the security and infrastructure of payment card systems, which in turn facilitates trade in our modern economy. However, initiatives set out to restrict these fees – another instance of government price controls – are becoming more abundant and have even been passed into law in states like Illinois.

While these laws are sold as a necessary intervention to save merchants and consumers money, focusing solely on the costs associated with card acceptance ignores the benefits that accrue to merchants, consumers, and the economy more broadly. More importantly, the costs and technical burdens associated with modifying what is currently a global payment system to facilitate regulatory changes in one state of one country would likely render the issuing and acceptance of debit and credit cards in that state infeasible, bringing about significant economic harm. This report serves to both educate and inform the public about interchange fees, their role in the payment card system, and the impacts of payment cards on the economy. Given the novelty of many state specific restrictions on interchange fees that have gained popularity in recent years, such as Illinois' Interchange Fee Prohibition Act (IFPA) that passed in 2024, little information exists on the potential economic impacts of such legislation. Using the Colorado economy as a case study, this report will detail the economic impacts of implementing an IFPA-like restriction on interchange fees in the state through the use of dynamic macroeconomic simulation, providing a glimpse of what other states can expect should they go down a similar path.

KEY FINDINGS

- The implementation of an IFPA-style restriction on interchange fees in Colorado will lead to economic declines and job losses. CSI estimates that the law would result in a 5.5% reduction in Colorado's cumulative job growth over the next five years, with employment in the retail sector experiencing a 75.9% reduction in employment growth by year five. Other critical sectors like construction and the financial sector would likely experience significant hits as well.
- Overall, the Colorado economy would contract by 0.2% by year five relative to baseline simulations, representing a \$1.4 billion dollar loss to the economy. Coloradans would also experience an overall loss in personal income exceeding \$1 billion.
- These overall costs to the state's economy surpass the potential savings to Merchants as a result of not having to pay interchange on taxes and tips. CSI estimates merchants in the state could expect to save \$118.8 million in fees in year one only roughly 0.07% of total taxable sales made in the state with the total, cumulative savings over five years reaching \$635.3 million by year five. However, the costs to the state's GDP in dollar terms reaches 226% of these potential savings, with the overall income losses in the state reaching 168%.
- Given the structure of the typical interchange fee for debit and credit cards, the savings to smaller merchants is likely to be smaller as a portion of the interchange fees they currently pay, meaning those retailers – particularly those that engage in frequent, small-ticket sales – are likely to experience smaller savings as a proportion of their overall fee expenses. Similarly, the lost interchange fee revenue for issuers in the state is likely to disproportionately impact smaller banks and credit unions, whose entire revenue base is limited (or at least heavily concentrated) to that one specific state. As a result, such a law is likely to lead to market concentration in both the card issuing and retail sectors.

KEY TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

Acquirer – The financial institution that facilitates electronic payment transactions for merchants. Often referred to as the acquiring bank, or merchant's bank.

Clearing – The process where acquiring and issuing banks exchange payment information regarding a transaction. Once the issuing bank validates the transaction and provides the card network with necessary financial information, the transaction is said to have "cleared" and can proceed to settlement.

Gateway – A service provider that securely facilitates the transfer of payment information between a merchant's website or point-of-sale (POS) system and the payment processor or acquiring bank.

Issuer – The financial institution that provides payment cards (credit, debit, or prepaid cards) to consumers and businesses. The issuer manages the cardholder's account and is often referred to as the issuing bank.

Network – Networks facilitate the transfer of payment information between the acquirer and the issuer, and ensures funds are transferred from issuer to the acquirer.

Payment Processor – A company that provides technology services to process electronic payments for merchants. Payment processors are responsible for sending the payment card data and other information to the card network and to the issuer. Both acquirers and issuers can act as payment processors, but both can also utilize third-party companies to handle payment processing.

Settlement – The final process in a payment card transaction where funds are electronically transferred from the issuer to the acquirer. Often occurs at a later time or date than the original transaction, whereas the clearing process takes place when the transaction is performed.

THE CARD PAYMENT LANDSCAPE

What are Interchange Fees?

Interchange fees are charges paid by a merchant's bank (acquirer) to the cardholder's bank (issuer) each time a credit or debit card is used for a transaction, and are based on the type of card used, and the payment method for which the card was used (in person, online, or manually keyed in). While the acquiring bank is responsible for paying these fees, they are typically passed down to the merchant who ultimately bears the cost. Interchange fees are usually calculated as a percentage of the transaction amount, including taxes and any gratuity, but often includes a small, fixed amount per transaction. As a percentage of the average transaction, interchange fees averaged 0.73% and 1.80% for debit and credit card transactions, respectively.ⁱ

Revenue from interchange fees is used by the issuing bank to fund various services, such as covering fraud prevention costs and the numerous rewards and cash-back programs offered through some debit and credit cards, both of which can impose significant costs to issuing banks.

In 2022, for instance, the six largest issuers of credit cards in the U.S. alone paid \$67.9 billion in rewards – a 23.7% increase from the previous year – and reported billions more in liabilities for rewards not yet

claimed by cardholders.ⁱⁱ Fraud losses for that year reached billions for issuers as well^{iii iv}, with losses expected to exceed \$165 billion over the next ten years.^v

Beyond the losses themselves, financial institutions expend countless resources preventing fraud in the first place, and investigating it when it does occur. Lexis Nexis reported in its seventh annual True Cost of Fraud Study that each for each dollar lost to fraud, financial institutions in the U.S. and Canada lose \$4.41.^{vi}

FIGURE 1



Credit card delinquency and charge-off rates - the share of credit card loans deemed uncollectible - have increased to their highest level since 2011.



Interchange fees also serve as compensation for issuing banks for assuming the risks associated with debit and credit card transactions, such as when a cardholder has insufficient funds in their account to pay for a transaction, or when issuers need to write off outstanding balances they can no longer recover (also called bad debt).

In the case of debit cards, transactions can sometimes pass the clearing process despite not having sufficient funds later during settlement. With credit cards, cardholders use issuer funds to make purchases with the promise to repay at a later date, and in many instances, fail to pay back those liabilities in a timely fashion, if at all. For instance, the New York Federal Reserve notes that as of Q3 of 2024, 3.23% of all credit card debt was delinquent with banks writing off another 4.69% as uncollectable, with both rates reaching their highest levels since 2011.^{vii} In both cases card issuers assume the risk associated with the transaction.

A common misconception^{viii} is that payment networks like Visa and Master Card receive revenues from interchange fees. Although payment networks such as Visa and Master Card set the level of interchange fees, they are paid by acquiring banks, who pass down those costs to their merchant customers.

Networks must balance the level of interchange fees between the interests of acquiring banks (and merchants) and card issuers. If interchange fees are set too high, acquiring banks – and their merchant customers – will not accept that network's cards as a form of payment. Set rates too low and issuing banks will not issue a network's card.

FIGURE 2

Credit Card Interchange Fee Examples

| Fee Program | Visa Signature | Mastercard World |
|----------------------------------|---------------------|------------------|
| Supermarket Credit (tier I & II) | 1.55% + \$0.05 | 1.25% + \$0.05 |
| Government/Public Sector | 1.55% + \$0.10 | 1.55% + \$0.10 |
| Restaurant 1/Restaurant | 2.70% (min. \$0.08) | 1.85% + \$0.10 |
| Source: Visa, Mastercard | | |

How Card Payments Work

When a consumer uses their debit or credit card to make a purchase, the merchant's payment gateway or payment processor – often in the form of a point-of-sale (POS) device – collects essential information such as the debit or credit card number, expiration date, Card Verification Value (CVV), and the transaction amount. Business-to-consumer transactions utilize level 1 data, which is limited in scope and the information that is transmitted, and most importantly, does not transmit tax data.

Card and purchase information is then securely transmitted in encrypted form to the merchant's bank (acquirer) or, in many cases, a third-party payment processor. The acquiring bank or processor forwards the transaction details to the relevant card network (e.g., Visa, MasterCard), which in turn sends the request to the issuing bank or their third-party processor. Upon receiving the request, the issuing bank verifies the card details, checks the availability of funds, ensures the card's validity, and performs fraud prevention checks. After reviewing these elements, the issuing bank either approves or denies the transaction. The payment gateway or processor then promptly notifies the merchant of the decision, allowing the transaction to proceed, all of which happens within milliseconds.

FIGURE 3



Who Pays What?

The payment card system is designed to securely handle sensitive information, facilitate data exchange between parties, and reduce the risk of fraud. To support this system, fees are applied whenever a credit or debit card is used in a transaction, which funds the various entities and components that make the system function. These typically include gateway fees, acquirer fees, network fees, and interchange fees.

Card Acquirer: The card acquirer – or merchant's bank – is responsible for the payment of network and interchange fees. However, these costs are typically transferred to the merchant in the form of a Merchant Service Charge (MSC) or Merchant Discount Rate (MDR), which is often subject to negotiation between the acquirer and the merchant. In addition to network and interchange fees, acquirers may also charge merchants additional acquirer fees for their services.

Merchant: Merchants bear the cost of the MSC or MDR, which covers both the network and interchange fees, as well as the acquirer fees. Merchants are also liable for gateway fees or merchant service provider (MSP) fees.

Card Issuer: Card issuers, typically banks or other financial institutions, are responsible for paying network fees and providing rewards or cashback incentives to cardholders. In return, card issuers receive interchange fees from merchants and may also collect fees from cardholders, such as annual fees or late payment charges. Many issuers also pay a third-party to process their card payments.

Cardholder: Cardholders are responsible for interest and other account fees associated with their debit or credit card.

FIGURE 4

Who Pays What?



THE ECONOMICS OF CARD PAYMENTS

The payment card industry serves as a prime example of a two-sided market. These markets are characterized by interactions between two distinct groups of agents facilitated by a third-party intermediary, where the decisions or participation of one group influences the participation of the other.^{ix} In the case of the payment card industry, consumers and merchants represent the two agents, while payment card networks act as the intermediaries. For payment cards to succeed, consumers must be willing to use them, and merchants must be willing to accept them. In other words, the participation of either party in the market directly impacts the participation of the other party, as customers cannot use a card that no merchant is willing to accept, and vice-versa.

This arrangement can lead to outcomes much different than those experienced in more traditional, onesided markets. In particular, two-sided markets often lead to one side subsidizing the other, especially if one side happens to be more price sensitive.^x With the payment card industry, merchants and acquiring banks subsidize card usage by consumers, but this is not unique to the payment card industry. Social media platforms are free for users, but the revenues that support these platforms comes from advertisers.^{xi} In this instance, advertisers subsidize the users of social media.

Rising Merchant Costs

Much of the attention over the fees associated with the card payment system has been focused on those borne by merchants. According to a 2024 CMSPI report, merchants in the U.S. paid over \$224 billion in total fees in 2023, with \$143 billion alone going to interchange.^{xii} About 74% of total interchange fee revenue comes from credit cards versus about 26% for debit cards.^{xiii}

FIGURE 5

Weighted Average Merchant Discount Rate (MDR) and Interchange Rate for U.S. Credit Cards.

Although merchants and some interest groups point to rising MDR and interchange fees, this is due to the rising popularity of electronic payments over the last several years, not the growth in the MDR rate paid by merchants.





While interchange and other card acceptance fees as a share of overall expenses for merchants have increased over the years, this is primarily due to the increasing popularity debit and credit cards – which now combine for two-thirds of all purchases in the U.S. – relative to other methods like cash and check.^{xiv} In the five years between 2016 and 2021 total U.S. interchange revenue from debit cards grew 61.3%, or about 10.0% per year.^{xv} However, the total value of debit transactions grew even more, at 73.6%, or about 11.7% per year.

Information regarding aggregate credit card transactions is less abundant, but data from Javelin Strategy and Verisk and cited by the Electronic Payments Coalition (EPC) shows that credit card interchange rates have remained largely flat since 2014, while the average MDR faced by retailers has only increased marginally – reinforcing the notion that costs are up largely due to the rising popularity of card payments rather than rising fee rates.

Benefits to Merchants and Consumers

Evaluating card payments solely based on the explicit fees that merchants pay to accept them vastly overstates the true costs. First, merchant activities necessitate the acceptance of at least some form of payment, and other payment methods – such as cash or check – themselves are not costless. Thus, any true evaluation of the costs of card acceptance should at least be weighed against the costs of alternative methods. Second, even though merchants subsidize the use of debit and credit cards through interchange fees, they likely benefit significantly from their use. Payment cards are extremely convenient for consumers, and the various rewards and cash-back programs associated with many credits and even debit cards often induce customers to spend more than they otherwise would – benefiting the establishments that make those sales.

The costs of cash can be substantial. One study concluded that cash-handling costs ranged from 4.7% to over 15% the value of the cash transaction, but businesses often fail to internalize these costs as the activities associated with cash acceptance fall under the responsibilities of store managers and other already existing staff, whereas the acceptance of payment cards requires explicit fees and the purchase of POS hardware.^{xvi}

FIGURE 6





In one especially glaring example of how cash acceptance can drive higher expenses, Death Valley National Park in California transitioned to exclusively cashless payments after spending over \$40,000 to process the \$22,000 in cash it collected one year.^{xvii}

Further research that compares the costs of card payments to cash concludes that once the benefits of card payments are fully accounted for, debit and credit cards are most often cheaper.^{xviii xix} This is because cards are convenient for consumers; they reduce checkout times thus increasing customer throughput¹, and they remove the constraint that customers must have enough cash on their person at the time of sale, which contributes to higher transaction amounts (a phenomenon referred to as "ticket lift"). Credit and debit cards often provide consumers with incentives like cash back programs and airline miles as well, which can induce consumers to spend beyond what they would have otherwise spent using cash.

One such study from 2011 found that although the total costs including labor, hardware, and other direct/ indirect costs for signature and pin debit cards used at supermarkets were roughly double the costs for cash acceptance, the increased ticket lift and throughput improvements led to a total net benefit for signature debit cards of \$1.025 per transaction, compared to the net costs of cash of \$(0.489).^{xx}

Another study evaluating the effect of cash-back programs on consumer spending shows how consumers can rationally increase their spending when using a cash-back credit card in lieu of cash.^{xxi} Because cash-back rewards effectively lower the purchase price in a given transaction, price-sensitive consumers will end up spending more than if they had made the purchase in cash, even after accounting for the cash-

back rewards. For example, a consumer with a price elasticity of demand of 1.5 receiving 2% cash back from credit card purchases would be induced to spend an additional \$0.46 for each dollar in cash-back rewards received. To put this in perspective, given the \$67.9 billion in rewards paid out by top issuers in 2022, consumer spending could have been \$33.3 billion more in 2022 due to card rewards programs.

FIGURE 7



Cost of Cash by Market Segment

¹Throughput is the rate at which a merchant sells its goods and services to customers. By decreasing checkout times (increasing efficiency) merchants can serve more customers and thus increase revenues.

THE REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT AND FALLOUT FROM THE DURBIN AMENDMENT

Debit card interchange fees have been regulated by the Federal Reserve since 2011 thanks to Regulation II, also known as the "Durbin Amendment" to the Dodd-Frank Act in 2010, while interchange fees on credit cards remain unregulated in the U.S. The Durbin Amendment caps interchange fees on debit cards from issuers with over \$10 billion in assets at 21 cents per transaction plus 0.05% of the transaction amount, and an additional 1 cent fraud-prevention adjustment.

While the Durbin Amendment lowered the average interchange fee paid by merchants from an average of 51 cents per transaction for covered issuers (those issuers subject to the law) to 24 cents by 2021, the legislation was plagued by unintended consequences.^{xxii} In response to lost interchange revenues from debit card programs, 50% of card issuers subject to the amendment ended their rewards programs in 2011 – such as free checking, zero liability protection, and cash-back debit cards – contributing to an increase in the unbanked population in the U.S. of 1 million people from primarily low-income families.^{xxiii} Researchers at the University of Chicago also concluded that after taking into account the lost perks and increased fees levied by issuers, consumers lost upwards of \$25 billion.^{xxiv}

The Interchange Fee Prohibition Act

According to the EPC, 29 states have introduced at least 61 bills since 2006 concerning credit and debit interchange fees. These efforts were especially concentrated in the years following the pandemic. More recently, Illinois was the first state to successfully introduce and pass legislation capping interchange fees in the state. Taking effect in July of 2025, the Interchange Fee Prohibition Act (IFPA) exempts merchants from paying debit and credit interchange fees on the sales tax and gratuity portion of any transaction, and levies a \$1,000, per transaction civil penalty on banks or other parties who collect interchange fees on taxes and tips in violation of the law.^{xxv}

The law presents implementation challenges to all parties involved in the payment process. While it does effectively lower the amount of interchange fees paid by merchants, it will likely require an overhaul of merchant POS systems – and other systems involved in the payment card environment – which will impose substantial costs.

It's difficult to determine the exact costs that the IFPA will impose on merchants, banks, and networks, but experience from the Europay, MasterCard, and Visa (EMV) rollout (colloquially referred to as "chip" card implementation) sheds some light on the likely magnitude. It's estimated that upgrades associated with the implementation of EMV in the U.S. carried a total price tag of \$8.6 billion,^{xxvi} with other sources citing costs as high as \$25 billion.^{xxvii}

Given the language of the IFPA, there are three methods through which the law could be implemented.

INTERCHANGE REBATES

Merchants could seek refunds from their card acquirers for the interchange fees assessed on the tax and gratuity portions of their sales. However, because many merchants agree to pay a rate for each type of card they accept, the refund process would require these merchants to identify sales tax associated with each of the numerous cards they accept. This would impose significant administrative burdens on merchants, both acquiring and issuing banks, as well as the networks that facilitate the transactions.

LEVEL 2 DATA UPGRADE

To bifurcate the tax amount from any purchase transaction all merchants engaged in business-toconsumer transactions would need to capture and transmit level 2 data, which includes more detailed information about each transaction including the taxes charged. This change would require merchants to upgrade their POS hardware, gateway subscriptions, their internal systems, and any other related hardware and services used during the checkout process. Beyond imposing significant costs on merchants, banks, and networks, level 2 data still do not capture any data on gratuity.

DUAL AUTHORIZATIONS

Merchants could use two separate authorizations for each transaction involving state and local sales taxes and/or tips. This method would also require upgrades and changes to merchant POS and register systems, since each purchase would need to identify both the purchase price and the tax and tips portion of the sale. Adjustments to payment networks would also need to take place to prevent the charging of interchange on the tax authorization, and to prevent acquiring banks from paying interchange fees to the issuing bank. Also, because each taxable purchase would require two separate transactions, customers and merchants may run into situations where the purchase authorization clears, but the customer has insufficient funds in their account to cover the tax authorization. In such an event customers would have to pay the tax portion via cash or check, or the transaction would need to be cancelled, further increasing costs on all parties.

Regardless of how the law is implemented, it's likely that smaller merchants will suffer the most due to the costs of implementation, while also benefiting to a lesser degree from the fee reductions than larger retailers. According to the EPC, the 1.3 million small businesses in Illinois are expected to save just \$56 annually – a savings that likely falls short of any expenses necessary to implement the law.^{xxviii}

Also, the public and policy makers may overestimate the savings that small businesses could experience because of the IFPA. Small businesses like convenience stores that frequently sell goods in small tickets will see much smaller relative savings in their interchange fees compared to larger retailers due to the fixed, per-transaction portion of interchanges fees – even if the total annual sales of the two merchants were identical. Using debit as an example the regulated interchange fee is a fixed \$0.21 plus 0.05% of the purchase price including tax, with credit interchange often following a similar structure. Prohibiting interchange fees from being applied to the tax portion would only decrease the merchant's interchange by the variable 0.05% portion of the fee, since the \$0.21 would still be applied to the transaction for the original goods or service.

A typical convenience store with an average ticket value of \$7.80^{xxix} would currently pay \$0.21390 in interchange on a debit transaction, while a larger retailer would pay \$0.2450 on a debit transaction of \$70.^{xxx} However, after excluding interchange on the tax portion the convenience store would pay \$0.21358 – a 0.148% savings on their interchange fees. The larger retailer on the other hand would now pay \$0.24215 – a 1.163% savings.

FIGURE 8





Calculated using the regulated debit card interchange fee schedule of \$0.21 plus 0.05% of the transaction amount. Assumes an average ticket size of \$7.80 for small merchants and \$70 for large merchants.

THE ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF INTERCHANGE FEE RESTRICTIONS: A COLORADO CASE STUDY

The complexities and burdens associated with implementing a cap or prohibition on interchange fees similar to the IFPA are clear, but what remains is a more technical analysis of the direct and indirect economic impacts a state like Colorado could expect as a result of passing a similar restriction. As of this writing the IFPA has yet to go into effect in Illinois, and thus a post-implementation analysis is not possible. However, using macroeconomic modelling we can evaluate the likely impacts of such a law, and more importantly, whether it will negatively or positively impact the state's economy.

To conduct this analysis CSI utilized the Tax-PI+ software for the state of Colorado from Regional Economic Models, Inc. (REMI). The Tax-PI+ software is a dynamic input-output (I-O) model allowing users to simulate the direct, indirect, and induced effects of policies impacting the state's economy.

For this analysis CSI modelled the likely impacts of implementing the IFPA in Colorado via the dualauthorization framework discussed earlier. This framework allows for an easier conceptualization of the likely costs of implementation and is likely one of the more feasible methods out of a set of likely infeasible options that a state has to implement such a law.

Simulation Inputs

INTERCHANGE FEE SAVINGS AND LOST REVENUE

The central input for the simulation is the interchange fees that would no longer be paid by merchants² in Colorado, and the subsequent loss of interchange fee revenue by financial institutions operating in the state.

Using taxable sales data for Colorado for tax year 2023^{xxxi}, along with average transaction details for credit, debit, and cash transactions,^{xxxii xxxii} and average interchange fees per transaction³, CSI estimates that merchants in Colorado paid over \$101.4 million in interchange fees on the sales tax portions of all debit and credit transactions made in the state, or roughly 0.07% of all taxable sales revenue made in 2023.

² Because the savings would only accrue to businesses who collect taxes and/or tips associated with their sales, CSI assumes the retail trade, accommodations, and food services and drinking places capture 100% of the savings.

³ Estimating the true average interchange rates for fees paid in Colorado is impossible. As a simplifying assumption CSI used the debit interchange amount for regulated issuers, which accounts for nearly 70% of total value of debit transactions, and for credit assumed an average interchange fee of 1.65% + \$0.10.

For estimates of the interchange fees paid on the gratuity portion of sales in the state, CSI apportioned tipped income estimates from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) to Colorado based on the state's share of overall Adjusted Gross Income (AGI) for tax year 2021 – the latest year data of this nature was available. For example, a Congressional Research Service report^{xxxiv} notes that roughly \$38 billion in tips were reported on W-2s in 2018. Grown to 2023 according to the growth in personal income in the U.S. of 32.7% yields a total tipped income of \$50.4 billion. Given that total AGI in Colorado is about 2.1% of total AGI for the nation^{xxxv}, CSI estimates that total tipped income in Colorado reached \$1.0 billion in 2023. For simplicity CSI assumed this total tipped income amount was attributable to debit and credit transactions only, as tipped income – particularly from cash sources – tends to be severely underreported.^{xxxvi} For instance CSI estimates unreported tipped income approaches 20%, which is close to the proportion of all transactions completed using cash according to the Federal Reserve.^{xxxvii}

Following a similar process for calculating the interchange fees paid on taxes, CSI estimates that a total of \$9.1 million in interchange fees were paid Colorado on tips in 2023, bringing the relevant interchange fees paid by merchants in Colorado – fees that merchants would be exempt from paying under an IFPA style prohibition – to \$110.5 million annually. For comparison, the EPC estimated the total savings for merchants in Illinois from the IFPA at \$118 million.^{xxxviii}

This amount represents both the total savings to merchants in the state whose sales are accompanied by sales taxes, and the total loss in revenue to issuers in the state.

IMPLEMENTATION COSTS - MERCHANTS

As discussed earlier in this report, any implementation of an IFPA style prohibition on interchange fess will carry significant costs for banks, payment processors, and merchants. According to the Small Business Administration's Office of Advocacy, Colorado's small businesses number 684,726, and represent 99.5% of all businesses in the state.^{xxxix} Given an estimated \$200-\$1000 cost to upgrade a merchant POS terminal,^{x1} CSI estimates the costs for merchants of implementation – including POS system upgrades, licenses and fees, and other costs passed down by gateways and payment processors as a result of changes to payment systems to accommodate the bifurcation of taxes and gratuity – could reach \$28 - \$138 million per year, assuming implementation occurs over a five year period.

Absent any definitive pathway to implement the IFPA, this cost estimate is highly speculative but demonstrates the potential magnitude of additional costs that significant changes to payment systems can impose on their users. As noted earlier, estimates for the total costs of implementing EMV ("chip") cards reach as high as \$25 billion. Apportioning these costs to Colorado based on relative GDP yields about \$480 million in total costs for merchants in the state due to the EMV transition, or about \$96 million per year over five years.

INCREASED PROCESSING COSTS

Like merchants and acquiring banks, issuers pay fees associated with the processing of payments. Many smaller institutions utilize the services of third-party payment processors to handle the behind-the-scenes functions that must take place to facilitate card payments. Based on conversations with experts

within the payment card industry, CSI estimates the costs associated with payment processing can reach upwards of 2% of overall expenses, with many fees charged as a fixed, nominal amount per transaction. Under the dual authorization framework for implementing an IFPA-like cap on interchange fees, the number of transactions would effectively double as each purchase by a cardholder would necessitate one authorization for the purchase of the goods or service and another for the tax and/or gratuity. Therefore, CSI estimates that financial institutions in the state could face increased costs of 2% as a result of an IFPAlike prohibition.

Second Order Impact Estimates

In addition to the direct impacts discussed above, the analysis presented here contemplates indirect impacts to consumer behavior. As discussed in earlier sections rewards and cash-back programs associated with credit and debit card usage can spur increased spending from cardholders, both in terms of the cash back rewards received and even additional spending beyond the cashback rewards.^{xii} For this analysis CSI considers the scenario where the reduction in interchange fee revenues corresponds to a one-to-one reduction in credit and debit rewards and increased banking fees. For each dollar of lost rewards, CSI assumes a \$0.46 reduction in consumption.

Finally, the use of debit and credit cards has been shown to increase checkout efficiency indicated by increased customer throughput, which in one study amounted to a \$0.156 throughput improvement per debit transaction for quick service and fast-food restaurants.^{xlii} CSI considers a 50% reduction in customer throughput for the fast-food industry in Colorado as a result of implementing dual authorizations.

Simulation Results

The simulation predicts that an IFPA style restriction on interchange fees would lead to a reduction in total employment of over 8,800 jobs by year five relative to the baseline assumptions of the REMI model, with jobs losses peaking at 9,117 in year three. These estimates amount to a 5.5% reduction in Colorado's cumulative total employment growth over the next five years with significant industries like construction experiencing a relatively large share (15%) of the job losses. For the retail trade sector specifically, the model estimates a 75.9% reduction in cumulative total employment growth by year five.

Colorado would also experience a \$1.43 billion loss in GDP by year five, and a \$1.1 billion loss in total personal income in the state relative to the model's baseline scenario – a total loss more than 200% the cumulative savings merchants would experience as a result of the law over five years. Personal income would fall by over \$1 billion, with real disposable personal income (2017 dollars) falling by \$668 million by year five.

Due to the speculative nature of these estimates, CSI also contemplated a scenario excluding the second-order, consumer response impacts, while also using the low-end estimate for the adaptation and implementation costs (\$28 million vs. \$138 million). As anticipated, the results were less severe in this modified simulation but still resulted in economic declines throughout the Colorado economy. Total cumulative employment growth in the state falls by 3.6% in the modified simulation, with the state experiencing a GDP decline relative to baseline of \$998 million by year five.

Final Notes

The impacts outline here are illustrative of the damage that such laws can inflict on a state's economy. However, this analysis fails to capture some of the other likely implications, such as the distribution of the impacts discussed here. One example mentioned previously is that smaller merchants are likely to be disproportionately impacted by the costs of implementation, while simultaneously experiencing smaller proportional savings. The likely result of such a situation is an increase in market concentration in favor of larger retailers at the expense of smaller ones. Similarly with the financial institutions operating in the state, larger institutions – particularly those with a national footprint – will be better equipped to handle and distribute the costs associated with a law due to their larger customer base. These institutions would also see a smaller relative hit to their interchange revenues and operating costs, as Colorado represents only a fraction of their revenues and expenses. However, no such relief exists for smaller regional and state-chartered banks and credit unions, who's revenues and expenses are near fully dependent on the local economy, and the laws that happen to be implemented in their home state.

Finally, it is worth noting that there is significant scepticism as to whether a law like the IFPA could be implemented at all. The simulation here represents the best guess impacts IF the hurdles of implementation could be traversed. The difficulty with laws like the IFPA is that they impose state specific restrictions on a system that is set up to function across the globe. Modifying that system to accommodate the regulations in a single state within a single country is likely cost prohibitive for the parties involved. An equally likely outcome is that institutions would instead have to all together prohibit the use of debit and credit cards in a state that implemented such restrictions. It goes without saying that the economic consequences of this would exceed the estimates discussed here by orders of magnitude.

BOTTOM LINE

Laws that attempt to restrict interchange fees are yet another instance of government price controls. These laws are often sold as a necessary government intervention to save consumers money, but in reality, they often impose significant costs on the very people they were intended to help. Policy makers and the public should be weary of arguments that exclusively point to the costs associated with the payment card system, without considering the alternative of if those systems did not exist, or the net benefits that accrue to the economy as a result of card payments. As this analysis shows, the pursuit to artificially limit the costs associated with payment cards can come with detrimental economic consequences.

REFERENCES

- i. "EPC Q3 2024 Data Dashboard", Electronic Payments Coalition, October 10, 2024.
- ii. Schulz, Matt, Shepard, Dan, Martinez-White, Xiomara, "Top Credit Card Issuers Dole Out \$67.9 Billion in Reward Payments in 2022, But Interchange Fees More Than Make Up for Them", *Lendingtree*, July 17, 2023.
- iii. Egan, John, "Credit card fraud statistics", Bankrate, January 12, 2023.
- iv. Lebow, Sara, "Card-not-present fraud to make up 73% of card payment fraud", Emarketer, January 23, 2023.
- v. Egan, John, "Credit card fraud statistics", Bankrate, January 12, 2023.
- vi. "Every Dollar Lost to a Fraudster Costs North America's Financial Institutions \$4.41 According to LexisNexis True Cost of Fraud Study from LexisNexis Risk Solutions", *LexisNexis*, April 24, 2024.
- vii. "Charge-Off and Delinquency Rates on loans and Leases at Commercial Banks", *Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System*, accessed December 18, 2024.
- viii. Kefauver, Joe, "Despite their claims, Visa and Mastercard can more than afford swipe fee reform", Chain Store Age, July 9, 2024.
- ix. Rysman, Marc, "The Economics of Two-Sided Markets", Journal of Economic Perspectives, 23 (3): 125-43, 2009.
- x. Ibid.
- xi. "Facebook Help Center: About our Policies", Facebook, accessed December 18, 2024.
- xii. "State of the Industry Report", CMSPI, September 2024.
- xiii. Ibid
- xiv. Foster, Kevin, Greene, Claire, Stavins, Joanna, "2023 Survey and Diary of Consumer Payment Choice: Summary Results", Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, 2024.
- xv. "Interchange Fee Revenue, Covered Issuer Costs, and Covered Issuer and Merchant Fraud Losses Related to Debit Card Transactions: Table 4", Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, April 3, 2023.
- xvi. "New Research from IHL Group Shows Retailers' Cash-handling Costs Range from 4.7% to 15.3%, Depending on Retail Segment", Business Wire, January 30, 2018.
- xvii. Wines, Abby, "Death Valley National Park to move to cashless fee collection starting June 1, 2023", National Park Service, April 12, 2023.
- xviii. Robert M. Grant, "Transaction Costs to Retailers of Different Methods of Payment: Results of a Pilot Study", Managerial & Decision Economics 4(2) 89-96, June 1983.
- xix. "Retailer Payment Systems: Relative Merits of Cash and Payment Cards", Economists Incorporated, November 19, 2014.
- xx. Layne-Farrar, Anne, "Are Debit Cards Really More Costly for Merchants? Assessing Retailers' Costs and Benefits of Payment Instrument Acceptance", September 9, 2011.
- xxi. MacDonald, Noah and Evans, Brent, "A Theoretical Examination of Cash-Back Credit Cards and Their Effect on Consumer Spending", *Financial Services Review*, March 5, 2020.
- xxii. "Interchange Fee Revenue, Covered Issuer Costs, and Covered Issuer and Merchant Fraud Losses Related to Debit Card Transactions: Table 5", Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, April 3, 2023.
- xxiii. Zywicki, Todd, Manne, Geoffrey, Morris, Julian, "Price Controls on Payment Card Interchange Fees: The U.S. Experience", International Center for Law and Economics, January 14, 2020.
- xxiv. Evans, David, Chang, Howard, Joyce Steven, "The Impact of the U.S. Debit Card Interchange Fee Caps on consumer Welfare: An Event Study Analysis", University of Chicago Law School, 2013.
- xxv. "Business Transactions (815 ILCS 151/) Interchange Fee Prohibition Act", Illinois Compiled Statutes.
- xxvi. "The \$8.65 Billion Shift to New Credit Cards Won't Fix Security Issues", Entrepreneur, March 3, 2015.
- xxvii. Cho, Stephanie, "EMV & the Fraud Liability Shift: What It Means for Your Business", Fraud Fighter, September 11, 2015.
- xxviii. "New Illinois Law Creates Windfall for Largest Corporate Mega-Stores", Electronic Payments Coalition, September 2024.
- xxix. "U.S. Convenience Store Sales Hit \$860 Billion", NACS, April 4, 2024.
- xxx. Perri, Janine, "As big-box stores drop prices, how have spending trends changed at Walmart and Target?", Bloomberg Second Measure, August 24, 2022.
- xxxi. "Sales Reports", Colorado Department of Revenue.
- xxxii. Bayeh, Berhan, Cubides, Emily, O'Brien, Shaun, "2024 Findings from the Diary of Consumer Payment Choice", The Federal Reserve Financial Services, n.d.
- xxxiii. "Interchange Fee Revenue, Covered Issuer Costs, and Covered Issuer and Merchant Fraud Losses Related to Debit Card Transactions: Table 1", Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, April 3, 2023.
- xxxiv. "Taxation of Tip Income", Congressional Research Service, October 28, 2024.
- xxxv. "SOI Tax Stats Historic table 2 Colorado", U.S. Internal Revenue Service.
- xxxvi. "Billions in Tip-Related Tax Noncompliance Are Not Fully Addressed and Tip Agreements Are Generally Not Enforced", Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration, September 28, 2018.
- xxxvii. Bayeh, Berhan, Cubides, Emily, O'Brien, Shaun, "2024 Findings from the Diary of Consumer Payment Choice", The Federal Reserve Financial Services, n.d.

- xxxviii. "New Illinois Law Creates Windfall for Largest Corporate Mega-Stores", Electronic Payments Coalition, September 2024.
- xxxix. "2023 Small Business Profile Colorado", U.S. Small Business Administration, n.d.
- xl. Alter, Kandice, Neumann, Anna, "The U.S. Migration to EMV: Considerations for the Payments Environment", Payments Policy Group, May 18, 2015.
- xli. Schwartz, Nelson, "Credit Cards Encourage Extra Spending as the Cash Habit Fades Away", The New York Times, March 15, 2016.
- xlii. Layne-Farrar, Anne, "Are Debit Cards Really More Costly for Merchants? Assessing Retailers' Costs and Benefits of Payment Instrument Acceptance", September 9, 2011.